

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-SECOND LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 4, 2024 to March 21, 2025

FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
March 25, 2025 to June 25, 2025

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NONEMERGENCY LAWS IS
JUNE 20, 2025

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
NONEMERGENCY LAWS IS
SEPTEMBER 24, 2025

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2025

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 46

H.P. 371 - L.D. 603

An Act to Ensure That the Exemption of Certain Agricultural Buildings from the Maine Uniform Building and Energy Code Includes Maple Sugarhouses

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 10 MRSA §9722, sub-§6, ¶B-1, as amended by PL 2023, c. 527, §1, is further amended by amending subparagraph (3) to read:

(3) That building materials from local sawmills, including but not limited to non-graded lumber, are permissible under the Maine Uniform Building and Energy Code; ~~and~~

Sec. 2. 10 MRSA §9722, sub-§6, ¶B-1, as amended by PL 2023, c. 527, §1, is further amended by amending subparagraph (4) to read:

(4) That buildings used to house livestock, store harvested crops or cultivate crops are not subject to the Maine Uniform Building and Energy Code. The exemption in this subparagraph does not include the cultivation of cannabis regulated under Title 22 or 28-B; ~~and~~

Sec. 3. 10 MRSA §9722, sub-§6, ¶B-1, as amended by PL 2023, c. 527, §1, is further amended by enacting a new subparagraph (5) to read:

(5) That buildings used primarily to process or store maple sap or syrup are not subject to the Maine Uniform Building and Energy Code;

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 47

H.P. 790 - L.D. 1185

An Act to Prohibit Persons Under 18 Years of Age from Marrying

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 19-A MRSA §652, sub-§7, as amended by PL 2023, c. 116, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 2. 19-A MRSA §652, sub-§8, as amended by PL 2023, c. 116, §2, is further amended to read:

8. Parties under ~~17~~ 18 years of age. The clerk or State Registrar of Vital Statistics may not issue a marriage license to a person under ~~17~~ 18 years of age.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 48

H.P. 446 - L.D. 707

An Act to Amend the Membership of the State Employee Health Commission and Make Referential Changes to the Office of Employee Health, Wellness and Workers' Compensation

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

PART A

Sec. A-1. 5 MRSA §285-A, sub-§2, as amended by PL 2021, c. 312, §3 and c. 548, §45, is further amended to read:

2. Membership. The State Employee Health Commission consists of ~~24~~ labor and management members as follows:

A. One labor member from each bargaining unit recognized under Title 26, chapter 9-B, appointed by the employee organization certified to represent the unit;

B. One labor member from the largest bargaining unit recognized under Title 26, chapter 14, appointed by the employee organization authorized to represent the unit;

C. One labor member appointed by the retiree chapters of the Maine State Employees Association;

C-1. One labor member from Maine Turnpike Authority employees appointed by the employee organization authorized to represent the employees;

C-2. One labor member from Maine Public Employees Retirement System employees, appointed by the employee organization authorized to represent the employees;

C-3. One labor member from Maine Maritime Academy employees, appointed by the employee organization authorized to represent the employees;

D. Four management members appointed by the Commissioner of Administrative and Financial Services;

E. One management member appointed by the Court Administrators;

F. The Executive Director of Employee Health ~~and, Wellness and Workers' Compensation~~, ex officio;

F-1. The State Human Resources Officer, ex officio;

G. One member representing retirees appointed by the Maine Association of Retirees;

H. One labor member from the Maine Community College System faculty or administrative unit, appointed by the employee organization authorized to represent the units;

I. One management member from the Maine Community College System appointed by the President of the Maine Community College System;

J. One management member appointed by the Executive Director of the Maine Turnpike Authority;

K. One management member appointed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Maine Public Employees Retirement System; and

L. One management member appointed by the President of the Maine Maritime Academy.

All appointed or elected members serve at the pleasure of their appointing or electing authorities.

Sec. A-2. 5 MRSA §285-A, sub-§3, as corrected by RR 2023, c. 1, §1 and affected by c. 1, §50, is amended to read:

3. Voting. All votes of the commission must be one vote cast by labor and one vote cast by management. The votes must be cast by the labor cochair, who must be chosen by the labor members, and the vote must represent the majority opinion of the labor members of the commission, and by the management cochair, who is ~~the State Human Resources Officer or the officer's designee~~ designated by the Commissioner of Administrative and Financial Services from among the management members appointed by the Commissioner of Administrative and Financial Services or the State Human Resources Officer.

PART B

Sec. B-1. 5 MRSA §285, sub-§1-A, ¶D, as amended by PL 2021, c. 312, §1, is further amended to read:

D. If terminating employment but not retiring at that time, have 25 years of creditable service under chapter 423, subchapter 4 and remain a member of the Maine Public Employees Retirement System, make a one-time election to continue coverage from the date of termination until retirement and pay the cost of the coverage plus the cost incurred by the Office of Employee Health ~~and, Wellness and Workers' Compensation~~ in administering coverage under the plan. If a terminated employee who elects coverage under this paragraph fails to

pay the cost of coverage and any administrative costs in the amount and manner determined by the office, the coverage may be cancelled in accordance with the requirements of Title 24 and Title 24-A. Regardless of election of coverage or cancellation of coverage under this paragraph, an employee terminating employment as provided in this paragraph may elect coverage upon retirement under paragraph E; or

Sec. B-2. 5 MRSA §285-A, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2021, c. 312, §2 and PL 2023, c. 412, §3, is further amended to read:

1. Establishment. The State Employee Health Commission is established to serve as trustee of the group health plan in this subchapter and to provide counsel to the Executive Director of Employee Health ~~and, Wellness and Workers' Compensation~~ and the State Human Resources Officer on health and dental insurance issues, the state living resources program and other issues concerning employee health ~~and, wellness and workers' compensation.~~

Sec. B-3. 5 MRSA §286, as amended by PL 2021, c. 312, §4 and 5 and PL 2023, c. 412, §3, is further amended to read:

§286. Administration

The Commissioner of Administrative and Financial Services has responsibility for the state employee health insurance program through the Office of Employee Health ~~and, Wellness and Workers' Compensation~~ that is established as part of the organization of the Bureau of Human Resources. The office is headed by the Executive Director of Employee Health ~~and, Wellness and Workers' Compensation.~~ The executive director has responsibility for the daily operation of this program and for the development and maintenance of programs that promote the health and safety of the state employees. Program services must be administered through offices, systems, consultants and staff necessary to provide cost-effective, accessible and responsive services to eligible employees and retirees. Administration of the program must be consistent with rules adopted by the State Employee Health Commission. The executive director and the staff of the state employee health insurance program are appointed in accordance with the Civil Service Law.

Appeals by eligible employees or retirees ~~shall~~ must be to hearing officers designated by the commission.

The cost of administration of the state employee health insurance program ~~shall~~ must be funded from an administrative allowance to be negotiated by the commission with the health benefit carrier or carriers. Indirect costs may not be allocated to the program.

The commissioner shall establish the Accident, Sickness and Health Insurance Internal Service Fund

through the State Controller in which health insurance and dental insurance premiums collected from state departments and agencies and other plan participants, premium dividends, return of premiums resulting from risk reduction programs and any other receipts must be deposited to be used for the purposes of the state employee health insurance program. The fund is a continuing fund and may not lapse. Interest earned from investment of the fund ~~shall~~ must be credited to the fund.

An annual report ~~shall~~ must be prepared for the Governor concerning the number of participants, premiums charged, utilization of benefits and operating costs. The report ~~shall~~ must also include recommendations regarding future operation of the program.

A reserve fund, administered by the Executive Director of Employee Health ~~and~~ Wellness and Workers' Compensation and the State Human Resources Officer with approval of the Commissioner of Administrative and Financial Services, is created to protect the program from unexpected losses and self-insured losses and related expenses incurred in the provision of health and dental benefits for the eligible participants. The fund is a continuing fund and may not lapse. The Treasurer of State shall invest the fund. All proceeds of these investments accrue to the fund.

The reserve fund is capitalized by money from premium payments and by legislative appropriation, payments from state departments and agencies and by such other means as the Legislature may approve. All money in the fund is deemed to be the commingled assets of all the covered employees and must be used only for the purposes of this section.

Sec. B-4. 5 MRSA §286-M, sub-§2, ¶C, as amended by PL 2021, c. 312, §6, is further amended to read:

C. "Division" means the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Office of Employee Health ~~and~~ Wellness and Workers' Compensation.

Sec. B-5. 5 MRSA §286-N, sub-§1, ¶B, as enacted by PL 2019, c. 446, §5, is amended to read:

B. Two ex officio nonvoting members as follows:

(1) The ~~executive director of the office of employee health and benefits~~ Executive Director of Employee Health, Wellness and Workers' Compensation within the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of Human Resources or the executive director's designee; and

(2) The employee of the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of Human Resources, ~~office of employee health and benefits~~ Office of Employee Health, Wellness and Workers' Compensation assigned to the program.

Sec. B-6. 5 MRSA §286-N, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2019, c. 446, §5, is amended to read:

3. Chair. The ~~executive director of the office of employee health and benefits~~ Executive Director of Employee Health, Wellness and Workers' Compensation within the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Bureau of Human Resources, or the executive director's designee, shall serve as chair.

Sec. B-7. 20-A MRSA §13451, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2023, c. 412, Pt. OOOOO, §§1 to 3, is further amended by amending the 2nd blocked paragraph to read:

A provider of a health insurance benefit plan for retired teachers must make available data related to the provider's premium costs and any related data as requested by the Executive Director of Employee Health ~~and~~ Wellness and Workers' Compensation within the Department of Administrative and Financial Services.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 49

H.P. 447 - L.D. 708

An Act to Allow for Rescission of a Site Location of Development Permit When a Development Is Decommissioned

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 38 MRSA §489-C, sub-§1, as amended by PL 1995, c. 493, §9, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

1. Development other than a subdivision. For a development other than a subdivision as defined at the time of permit issuance:

A. The permittee has not constructed or caused to be constructed, or operated or caused to be operated, the development; or

B. The development has been fully decommissioned to the department's satisfaction;

Sec. 2. 38 MRSA §489-C, as corrected by RR 1995, c. 2, §99, is amended by enacting at the end a new paragraph to read:

For the purposes of this section, "fully decommissioned" means all aboveground and belowground components of a development have been physically removed, the site has been restored to preconstruction grade, any previously vegetated areas have been revegetated with native vegetation similar to nearby native vegetation and all waste has been recycled or disposed